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Introduction


I WORKED AS A WALKING tour guide in Dublin’s city centre for several years. The tour I presented was a history of Ireland in two hours. One of the difficulties with giving an ‘Irish history for beginners’ tour is how to present information that is relatively unfamiliar to a group of visitors to the city. Dublin’s buildings were important landmarks for people who were feeling their way around, and by telling the story of these buildings I could create a historical narrative. Through the buildings I could help the people on my tour to connect with events and people they might not have encountered before. The art and architecture of the buildings added rich detail to this narrative and allowed me to recreate a time and place. These details could be as small as a painting hanging on a wall, a tapestry, or bullet holes from a past rebellion. Pointing these out to visitors made me look at the buildings I passed every day in a whole new light. Buildings in the city set the stage for great events, influenced the people around them, and shaped and directed the growth of the city itself.


BUILDINGS AND THE HISTORICAL NARRATIVE


Buildings are a part of history. But they are often sidelined and appear merely as a stage upon which great events occur. In this book I have placed buildings at the centre of the historical narrative, so that a picture emerges of a city that was hugely influenced by the buildings themselves and the institutions they housed. The motivations of the men and women involved in creating the buildings examined in this book were manifold: religion, colonisation, education, trade, politics, and civic improvement. Although those behind the foundation of these buildings might have had clear motivations, this did not mean the buildings would retain their original purpose. The city, and its inhabitants, changed the meaning and purpose of the buildings to suit their needs. Commentators and historians have ascribed symbolic values to these buildings too. These structures can tell us about our present, and not just our past. I have selected ten key buildings in Dublin that enable us to understand the city, its streetscape and its growth, its inhabitants and its rich and varied history from the Middle Ages to the twenty-first century.


CHRIST CHURCH CATHEDRAL


In the first chapter I will examine the Viking church that became Christ Church Cathedral. The population of the island of Ireland was fragmented in the Viking period, and different settlers would come to inhabit Dublin. Christ Church Cathedral was founded by a Hiberno-Norse king of the city, was located at the physical heart of Dublin, and was recognised by its inhabitants as an institution that was hugely important. Once Dublin was conquered by the Anglo-Normans, they seized the cathedral and made it their own. The English government also recognised its importance, and medieval lord lieutenants were sworn into office at the cathedral. During the Reformation, the cathedral’s monastic order was due to be dissolved, and with this the cathedral would lose its purpose, but was saved by the protests of Dublin’s inhabitants. It became a centrepiece of the reformation as the seat of the Anglican archbishop of Dublin. Although Christ Church began to decline in the nineteenth century, an expensive restoration undertaken by Henry Roe, Dublin’s largest whiskey distiller, saved (as well as dramatically altered) the cathedral. The history of the cathedral shows us how diverse the city’s inhabitants have been and brings us through the Viking, Anglo-Norman, English and Protestant periods in the city’s history.


DUBLIN CASTLE


English power in Ireland was centred on Dublin Castle, which made it a hugely important building, and this is dealt with in the second chapter. The castle placed Dublin at the centre of the English colony in Ireland. The head of the English government, the lord lieutenant, resided at the castle, along with large numbers of the armed forces. During the infrequent occasions when British royalty visited Ireland, they resided at Dublin Castle, or used it as a venue for their receptions. Just one of the many ways that the castle benefited the inhabitants of Dublin was its influence on communications and infrastructure. Due to its importance for the English government, roads to Dublin had to be well maintained, and shipping to and from the city had to travel frequently. The downside was that the castle also tended to be the main focus for disaffected inhabitants, and rebellions often targeted Dublin Castle.


TRINITY COLLEGE DUBLIN


On its foundation in 1592 Trinity College Dublin, Ireland’s oldest university, was seen as an important colonising tool. It was hoped that through the education of ministers, lawyers and doctors, English religion, law and civility would spread through Ireland. Trinity managed to shape the minds of those who were loyal to the English government but also many who questioned its authority. John Fitzgibbon, earl of Clare, was a firm advocate of the Act of Union and was educated in Trinity, but so too was Theobald Wolfe Tone, one of the leaders of the United Irishman’s rebellion of 1798. The university’s library is one of the most important repositories of Irish manuscripts and printed material in the world and houses the famous Book of Kells. The university shows how a Protestant institution, with strong government connections, could survive some of the most turbulent periods in Irish history and retain its place as one of the most important educational institutions on the island.


PARLIAMENT HOUSE (BANK OF IRELAND)


The imposing Bank of Ireland building on College Green might look like a monument to Irish commerce, but it was first a home to the Irish parliament and is investigated in the fourth chapter. As one of the earliest purpose-built parliament buildings in the world, the building was intended to make an important statement about power in Ireland. Nevertheless, the parliament was controlled by the British government for many decades. When ‘patriots’ within parliament began to wrest power from the British government, the assembly was seen as a threat to British power in Ireland, and, after the 1801 Act of Union, Ireland lost its parliamentary independence. Although taken over by the Bank of Ireland shortly after, in the nineteenth century, Irish nationalists repeatedly called for a parliament to return to College Green. They saw the building as an important symbol of what had been taken from them.


CITY HALL


This is the home of civic government in Dublin, and is the subject of the fifth chapter. The building was originally the Royal Exchange, and was constructed between 1769 and 1779. The building was funded by the Committee of Merchants, a group of Dublin traders from across the religious spectrum, for the purpose of promoting trade and commerce in Ireland. Although the group had honourable intentions, they became embroiled in a battle with property developers in the city who sought to move the city’s Custom House to the east of the city, so that they could build additional bridges to access their estates. Although the merchants eventually lost out to the city’s landed elite, the building’s history highlights the politics behind Dublin’s rapid eighteenth century expansion.


ST JAMES’S GATE


Guinness is one of the most famous Irish brands, and the St James’s Gate brewery where it is brewed is the dealt with in chapter six. Although the brewery was founded by Arthur Guinness in 1759, porter was not brewed there until 1778. The location of the brewery, in the centre of Dublin’s Liberties, gave Arthur Guinness both a workforce and a market. St James’s Gate expanded under each successive Guinness generation. It was Dublin’s largest brewery in 1810, Ireland’s largest in 1833, and the largest in the world by 1914. Guinness was also the city’s largest employer. The Guinness family were hugely important outside the brewery too and used their money to develop Dublin’s landscape through projects such as the Iveagh Trust development. The history of St James’s Gate shows how one brand can shape a city, as well as how the drinking habits of Dubliners developed through history.


KILMAINHAM GAOL


The most famous jail in Dublin, Kilmainham, is looked at in chapter seven. Prison reform in Britain and Ireland was an issue that gained widespread support in the late eighteenth century and with an earlier jail in deplorable condition, a new Kilmainham Gaol was opened in 1796. Soon after, the 1798 rebellion broke out, followed by Robert Emmet’s rebellion in 1803. Later came the foundation of the Young Irelanders, the Fenians, the Land League, and the 1916 Rising. From almost the moment the doors of Kilmainham opened, it housed some of the most prominent political prisoners of its day. The prison also housed thousands of Dublin’s ordinary citizens, making the jail an important building in the social and political history of the city.


GENERAL POST OFFICE (GPO)


This city-centre post office was the headquarters of the 1916 Rising, is arguably the most famous building in the city, and is the subject of chapter eight. The leaders of the rising seem to have chosen the building as their headquarters as the GPO was the centre of communications in the city. To seize the GPO was to seize telegraph and phone lines, and to disrupt post and communications across the city. Although the rebellion was short-lived and ended in the execution of 16 men, it gave birth to a stronger republican movement and led to the War of Independence. As such, the GPO is seen as the cradle of revolution, the birthplace of Irish independence. The events at the GPO have been celebrated in state parades, history books, documentaries and films. The history of the building tells us about one of the most important chapters in the foundation of the Irish state.


THE ABBEY THEATRE


In the late nineteenth century a Gaelic revival movement, which bemoaned the dominance of English culture in Ireland, sought to revive all aspects of traditional Irish culture including language, sport, folklore and literature. Two leading figures of the movement, W.B. Yeats and Augusta Gregory, felt that the spread of English books and plays had an adverse affect on Irish culture. With the aim of building up a ‘Celtic and Irish school of dramatic literature’ they founded the Abbey Theatre, the focus of chapter nine. The Abbey Theatre promoted the work of some of the most important early twentieth century playwrights including J.M. Synge and Seán O’Casey. Although the theatre suffered a creative decline in the middle of the twentieth century, it re-emerged in the 1970s to become Ireland’s premier theatre. The Abbey Theatre helped to shape Irish identity, and the theatre’s history can tell us about some of Ireland’s most influential cultural figures.


CROKE PARK


The final chapter examines Croke Park, a site where people from all over Ireland came—and still come to this day—to celebrate Irish sport and culture. The Gaelic Athletic Association (GAA) made the Jones’s Road site its home from 1913. All-Ireland finals are played at the stadium, making Croke Park one of the most important sites in Irish sport. Moreover, overlap in membership between the GAA and other nationalist organisations meant that the stadium was a site of huge political importance. In the aftermath of a civil war that tore apart Irish society and politics, Croke Park helped to unify the population in a way that no other building could. The Aonach Tailteann games were staged there in 1924, a type of Irish Olympic Games, and promoted the ideals of an independent Irish identity worldwide. In the opening decades of the new state the GAA flourished, and Croke Park was at the heart of the association. Although the stadium had begun to represent ‘old Ireland’ and was suffering declining numbers by the 1970s, the GAA fought back. A redevelopment of Croke Park from the 1990s turned Croke Park into one of the most modern stadiums in Europe, with a maximum capacity of 82,300. The stadium represents more than just sporting heritage, it tells us about the politics of Ireland too.


THE EXPANSION OF DUBLIN: POPULATION AND STREETSCAPE


The location of each of these 10 buildings also tells us about the growth and expansion of the city. The boundaries of the Hiberno-Norse city ran from the modern site of Dublin Castle and would have run along Castle Street, Werburgh Street, Christ Church Cathedral to Parliament Street. This medieval core expanded in two more phases, which we can trace through archaeological evidence and through the remnants of the city walls: it moved west as far as High Street and north as far as the River Liffey.1 Looking at the development of the medieval city, we can see that, when Sitriuc Silkbeard founded Christ Church Cathedral in the eleventh century, he placed the cathedral at the heart of the city. When the Anglo-Normans conquered Dublin in the twelfth century they were well aware of potential threats to the city. The Hiberno-Norse population of the city had been expelled across the Liffey to Oxmantown, and although this was a substantial suburb (we know settlements developed outside the city walls as well), it would be several centuries before it became part of the core of the city. The new English government built a protective fortress, Dublin Castle, within the city walls to protect their regime. With little room for new development, the castle was placed in the southwest of the city. The river Poddle was diverted to run around the castle boundaries, creating a moat. This led to a double defence within the city. As the castle was a significant government centre, it encouraged growth in the east of the city. In the aftermath of the Anglo-Norman invasion, the city experienced economic expansion and the population increased. Although it is difficult to estimate the exact population numbers, some historians believe that by the fourteenth century about 11,000 people lived within the city walls and in the immediate suburbs.2
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John Speed’s map of Dublin, 1610 (Dublin City Library and archives)





Unfortunately, the earliest extant map that we have dates to 1610. Nevertheless, this map was drawn at a time when the city was beginning to expand, and we can see how far Dublin had grown since the medieval period. The city had grown beyond its walls to the east and across the Liffey to the north. The map also allows us to guess what the city population may have been. The historian Louis Cullen has suggested 15,000 people lived within the city at this point.3 We know that the population increased to about 40,000 people by 1680, and to 60,000 in 1700.4


Trinity College appears as part of the countryside on John Speed’s map in 1610. Before the parliament house was erected, parliament resided in Chichester House (on the same site as the later building). The house was located on Trinity Street, a prosperous part of the city outside the cramped medieval city. The locations of Trinity College and the parliament were advantageous. The development of Dame Street and College Green allowed an easy pathway to Dublin Castle and College Green, so these four institutions (Christ Church, Dublin Castle, Parliament and Trinity) were located on an east—west axis. While the castle and Christ Church were located in the old city, reflecting their medieval origins, Trinity College and the parliament house indicated where future growth would be, providing ‘a focus for the capital city well to the east, complemented by the imposing extent of Trinity College’.5 As we can see from John Rocque’s map of 1756, growth in the north and east of the city ensured Trinity College and the parliament house were closer to the city centre.
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John Rocque’s map of Dublin, 1756 (Dublin City Library and archives)





Growth continued to the east of the city, and this can be seen on Rocque’s map. The St Stephen’s Green development can be seen on the outskirts of the city. This new type of estate had become hugely popular, and had been successfully developed in the northside of the city. Wealthy citizens wanted to live far from the noise and bustle of civic government and trade, and had begun to decamp to the northside. This led to increased traffic on the city bridges, which prompted proposals to build more bridges to the east of the city to ease congestion. This would cut off the Custom House, which was located close to the old medieval quarter. Merchants were angry. They built their Royal Exchange, now City Hall, in the older part of the city, hoping to halt this eastward movement. They failed, however, and the Custom House was moved to the northwest of the city.


Dublin’s wealthy citizens may have moved north, but the poorer inhabitants had stayed in the old medieval part of the city. Linen, an important Irish export in the eighteenth century, created employment for many of the city’s working poor. Weaving was concentrated in the Liberties (around St Patrick’s Cathedral, High Street and Thomas Street), and so too were the linen-bleaching fields. It was in this industrial quarter of the city, with access to a clean water supply at the city reservoir, that Arthur Guinness established his brewery at St James’s Gate. There were numerous breweries and distilleries located in the area from the medieval period to the nineteenth century.


Just three and a half kilometres west from this busy industrial part of the city lay the county jail, Kilmainham Gaol. Located outside the city when it opened its doors in 1796, the rapid population expansion of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries meant that it was quickly subsumed into the city suburbs. In 1841, when the first reliable census was carried out in Ireland, the city’s population was 233,000.6 The boundaries of the city were marked by the Grand and Royal Canals. The Post Office map of 1852 shows the city boundaries within the canals, and hints at the suburban growth beyond the city limits. The upper and middle class inhabitants who had once lived in the city centre moved out to the suburbs which were springing up at an increasing pace. The tram and railway meant they had easy access to work and to shops in the city centre, while they also enjoyed the space and amenities of the suburbs. The poor of the city took up residence in the once-splendid Georgian mansions, and from here some of the worst slum conditions in Europe developed. The commercial heart of the city had moved with the new Custom House to the northside. When the Wide Streets Commission developed Sackville Street (now O’Connell Street), it became the busiest street in the city. The General Post Office opened on the street in 1818, and when the tram system reached the street it became the centre of communications too. The area was the city’s social and entertainment centre. Abbey Street, just off Sackville Street, was the location of the Abbey Theatre.
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General Post Office Map of Dublin, 1852 (Dublin City Library and archives)





The expansion of the suburbs and the railway lines assisted the evolution of sports clubs and stadiums on the outskirts of the city. The Jones’s Road stadium, which became Croke Park, grew in line with these nineteenth century developments. The suburbs continued to grow throughout the twentieth century, making transport networks even more important for Dubliners who travelled into the city for work and leisure. Croke Park, still in the suburbs, was a site that had to be well-serviced to cater for the tens of thousands of people who travelled to the stadium during match days, and today it is connected to the city centre and greater Dublin area by bus and rail links. Dominating the skyline of the northside suburb of Drumcondra, Croke Park is indicative of the suburban growth of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, which changed the landscape of the city irrevocably. The city limits have expanded beyond the canal lines that once marked the city boundary and now encompass suburban areas such as Drumcondra. The city population has grown to more than 525,000 inhabitants, while the population of city and suburban areas of Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown, Fingal and South Dublin was just over 1,273,000 in the 2011 census.


This book seeks to recreate a virtual walking tour of Dublin’s history, so that the reader can imagine the events that shaped, and the people who influenced, the history of Dublin. It is not an architectural history, nor is it a potted history of Dublin; it provides biographies of ten of Dublin’s most important buildings. Some of the sites discussed here, such as Trinity College Dublin, are not strictly ‘buildings’ any longer, and have grown beyond their initial limits to become complexes of buildings. This points to the success of the original institutions. This book sets out to look at how these buildings and institutions were founded, how they survived Ireland’s turbulent history, the part they played in the great events of Dublin’s past, and what they mean to us today.


For accessibility and consistency, anglicised versions of Irish names have been used throughout the book; unless otherwise indicated, all biographical details have been taken from the Royal Irish Academy’s Dictionary of Irish Biography.




1


Christ Church Cathedral


CHRIST CHURCH CATHEDRAL has been at the heart of Dublin’s religious community for almost a millennium. Nestled in the centre of the old medieval city, important civic and national institutions sprang up around the cathedral. Christ Church is one of the most important links to the city’s medieval history and one of the oldest buildings in the city. This area of the city was inhabited long before the arrival of the Vikings. When Dublin’s Viking community founded the church, in 1030, they placed it at the heart of their settlement. Many of Ireland’s important medieval leaders, warriors and religious figures, including Dublin’s patron saint (Laurence O’Toole) and the man who led the Anglo-Norman attack on Dublin (Richard de Clare, or Strongbow), are closely linked with the cathedral. The cathedral as we know it today is vastly different to the original site and the story of Christ Church is one of evolution and change. Once a monastic site and home to a Dublin order of Augustinians, it became a secular cathedral during the Reformation and, as the seat of the Anglican Archbishop of Dublin, it was an important institution of the Reformation. The cathedral also has a more obscure history. After the Reformation, the monastic buildings were used for a variety of purposes. For many years the city law courts were located within the cathedral complex. The cathedral precinct was also a busy commercial site, with stalls, shops and vendors attracting city shoppers. Rents within the precinct were a valuable source of income for the cathedral. Many of these medieval buildings were cleared away in the nineteenth century, leaving the cathedral building visible. Consequently, many people do not know the part that the cathedral played in the commercial, civic and legal life of the city.


THE ORIGINS OF SETTLEMENT IN DUBLIN: ÁTH CLIATH AND DUBH LINN


To understand how the cathedral came to be built we must examine the early city settlers. Dublin is one of the oldest capital cities outside the boundaries of the Roman Empire, and had grown long before the arrival of the Vikings. The early settlement developed in two distinct phases—around, respectively, a secular and a monastic site—and it is from these early settlements that the city takes its modern name. Áth Cliath, or ‘Hurdle Ford’, is believed by historians to have been on a ridge that facilitated fishing on the river Liffey. It is thought that a farming settlement grew up around it. We cannot be sure exactly where this community was, but we know that one of the early roads from the ancient royal site of Tara led to it.1 The Irish name for Dublin, Baile Átha Cliatha, has evolved from this early settlement. We can’t be precisely sure when this community first came into being. The second site, Dubh Linn, was a monastic settlement. The name for this settlement in English, ‘black pool’, is said to be derived from its position. A pool was created when the river Poddle, which flows underneath the city today, met the river Liffey. It is probable, then, that this village was around the present-day site of Dublin Castle. Archaeological excavations have confirmed that the Liffey tide would have flowed as far as the castle’s northern boundary. The Poddle was re-directed and used to create a protective moat defence on the southern and western side of the castle. With little material evidence we cannot date the settlement and must work on scant information.2 Nevertheless, details from Irish texts and archaeological digs have allowed us to build up a likely scenario for how the settlement evolved.


We know that Norse Vikings were undertaking raids in the Dublin area, and along the Irish coast, from 795 to 836. By 841, according to the Annals of Ulster, there was a longphort at Dublin that lasted until 902. The longphort—a type of temporary settlement which the Vikings used to winter at Dublin—was known as longphort oc Duibhlin. There is much debate about its exact location. By 902 the Irish in the area managed to defeat the Vikings, who were by now using the longphort as a more permanent residence. The Vikings then fled the city, some going to the Isle of Man, England and southern Scotland. This exile did not last long, and within 15 years they had returned to Dublin, where they established a second settlement in the area after 917. This would grow into the modern-day city. Their exile abroad had probably encouraged them to emulate some of the characteristics of urban settlements they would have seen in other countries. The Vikings were turning from raiders to traders, and they set up trading networks throughout the Viking world.3 We know from excavations at Wood Quay that they traded not just agricultural goods like food and hides, but also jewellery and combs. We also know Dublin was part of the extensive European slave economy.4
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Christ Church Cathedral, 1968, from O’Donovan Rossa Bridge (Dublin City Library and archives)





HIBERNO-NORSE DUBLIN


While the Vikings at Dublin certainly looked out towards the rest of the Viking world, that did not mean they were isolated from the Gaelic population. There was cultural and economic exchange, which has led to historians identifying the period between 980 and 1170 as ‘the Hiberno-Norse’ period in the city. This was a time when the inhabitants of Dublin would have spoken Norse, English and Irish. It was also during this period that Christ Church Cathedral came into being. The medieval historian Howard Clarke describes Dublin in this period as ‘Ireland’s first genuine town’.5 As a successful trading port and a busy settlement, Dublin was seen as an attractive prize. Several Irish kings from the late tenth century managed to bring Dublin under their jurisdiction.6 The medieval city occupied only a fragment of the territory that is the modern-day city, and only a few medieval buildings have survived. These include the two cathedrals of Christ Church and St Patrick’s, the churches of St Michan’s and St Audeon’s, and Dublin Castle. Interest in the medieval city blossomed due to discoveries at Wood Quay, in the heart of the medieval city. The Wood Quay site ran from the existing cathedral boundary to the Liffey. Excavations, which took place between 1962 and 1981, uncovered a Viking settlement that was practically intact and revealed extensive settlement in this area of the city.


Unfortunately, the excavations were taking place so that Dublin City Council could build their new headquarters. A protest movement campaigned against the new building and sought to preserve this part of the city, and to create a protected site at Wood Quay (there were few protective laws in place for sites of this nature). When the case came before the Irish High Court, the Wood Quay group lost and archaeologists were given just five months to extract as many finds from the area as they could before Dublin City Council built on top of the area. This was a great loss to not just Irish heritage and history, but to medieval studies internationally, as no comparable site (in terms of size, and the number of objects so well-preserved) has been discovered before or since. Nevertheless, the fight to protect Wood Quay ensured that the need to safeguard urban history and geography from rapid development was highlighted.7 If a silver lining is to be found, it is that ‘these stormy events prompted new research, which is reflected in the growing number of publications that are now available on different aspects of medieval Dublin’.8 The Friends of Medieval Dublin, a research group of archaeologists and historians, has been central to our understanding of medieval Dublin. By exploring the stories of the medieval buildings that have survived, like Christ Church, we learn a great deal about the early inhabitants of Dublin.
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Archaeological excavations at Wood Quay in 1974 (Dublin City Library and archives)





THE FOUNDATION OF CHRIST CHURCH CATHEDRAL


The Church of the Holy Trinity (informally and then later known as Christ Church Cathedral) was founded by Sitriuc Silkbeard, who came from a strong Hiberno-Norse background. His father, Olaf, was a Norse man who had made a failed claim for the title of king of York before settling in Dublin, while his Gaelic Irish mother, Gormlaith, was a daughter of a future king of Leinster, Murchad. Their marriage highlights the continued connection between the Gaelic and Norse communities in Ireland. Sitriuc came to the kingship after Glúniarainn, king for a brief period, was murdered by one of his slaves in 989.9 While Sitriuc ruled during the Battle of Clontarf (1014), his reign is generally considered to be peaceful, and a time when the city was more closely connected with English trade, culture and politics.10 A large horde of English coins found in the city, dating from 991–97, confirms the importance of English trade during this period. One of Sitriuc’s greatest achievements was the creation of a Dublin bishopric and the foundation of the Church of the Holy Trinity. The coming of Christianity to Ireland in the early fifth century had led to development and settlement along the Liffey, and we know of four churches along the Poddle river bank: St Brigid, St Kevin, St Patrick and St MacTaill. While it can’t be proved conclusively that they were pre-Viking churches, it is very likely.11 This points to the existence of a lively Christian church, but the establishment of a bishopric in Dublin was significant as it created a position of power, from which Dublin could lead and effect changes within the Irish church. Sitriuc made a pilgrimage to Rome in his seventies and it was during this trip that he gained permission to have Dublin established as an episcopal base, along with permission to found a cathedral dedicated to the Holy Trinity. While historians are not certain of the date for the foundation of the cathedral, it is believed to be circa 1030 when he returned from Rome.12


The foundation of the cathedral was not merely a religious matter, though, and the location within the confines of the Viking walls (which were made of wattle and built up with silt from the Liffey), where land was at a premium, shows the significance that Sitriuc placed on the new cathedral. The medieval historian Stuart Kinsella has said that ‘in one move Sitriuc gave the Hiberno-Norse town a new heart, embracing its westward expansion by situating the cathedral in the western edge of Duiblinn’s old dún, and unifying the Viking settlement of Átha Cliath and the older Irish Duiblinn’.13 The cathedral unified two distinct parts of the city and became the centre of the town. While it has been suggested in the past that this new church was made of wood, it is now thought more likely that it was made of stone.14 This would have been quite expensive, but would have added a permanency to the building and would have made the cathedral stand out from the other buildings in the Viking town.


THE ANGLO-NORMAN INVASION


The cathedral was rebuilt when a new ruling elite in the city, the Anglo-Normans, came to power. Traditionally the king of Leinster claimed that the town was within his jurisdiction but it was directly governed by Ragnall Mac Torcaill, a member of the Ostman family of Hiberno-Norse descent. When Ragnall died in 1166, he was succeeded by his brother Hasculf, who submitted to Rory O’Connor, the over-king of Connaught, effectively ousting Dermot McMurrough, the over-king of Leinster, who had been acknowledged as overlord of Dublin in 1162. Dermot moved to build up an army to reclaim his jurisdiction but was forced across the water to England to do so.15 While Henry II was not in a position to grant Dermot an army, he gave Dermot permission to raise a force of mercenaries. In 1169 an Anglo-Norman army from Wales under the command of Richard de Clare, Earl of Pembroke (Strongbow), sailed to Ireland to support Dermot. Together they captured Waterford. With an army of about 5,000 they marched on Dublin. Hasculf called on Rory O’Connor to defend the town. O’Connor had just been installed as high-king of Ireland and had a larger army than Strongbow and Dermot.16 As O’Connor moved to defend Dublin, Dermot and Strongbow took a route through Glendalough, bypassing his forces stationed at Clondalkin. Those left to defend the city sent the archbishop of Dublin, Laurence O’Toole, to negotiate with the approaching army. O’Toole was an important political figure in his own right. He was the son of Muirchertach O’Toole, who had been king of North Leinster. As a child he had become a hostage to McMurrough, over-king of Leinster, to ensure his father’s good behaviour.17 O’Toole’s sister, Mor, was married to McMurrough, and Aoife was his niece. O’Toole had introduced the Augustinian order to the monastery at Christ Church Cathedral, and on his death was elevated to sainthood for his good deeds. On 21 September, 1170 O’Toole submitted to McMurrough and Strongbow, recognising Dermot (his brother-in-law) as king of Dublin once more.18 O’Toole would have sought a speedy handover of the city to protect its inhabitants, but during the negotiations two knights breached the walls and slaughtered most of the townspeople.


Dermot, happy to have retaken the city, retired to his capital in Ferns, Co. Wexford, and died in the spring of 1171, leaving Strongbow to inherit his title of Lord of Dublin. On his way back from the funeral, Strongbow encountered Rory O’Connor and a pan-Gaelic force that had been sent to recapture the city in his absence. Strongbow defeated them and returned to his seat at Dublin. By now, however, Henry II was concerned about Strongbow’s activities in Dublin. With Rory O’Connor defeated for a second time, and as Strongbow was Dermot’s legitimate successor, Henry was worried that Strongbow could seize the rest of the island independently of the English crown. Henry had been encouraged to take Ireland by the only English pope to occupy the papal see, Pope Adrian IV (he was pope from 1154 to 1159). Under his papal edict (known as a bull) Laudibiliter, the King of England would be known as Lord of Ireland if he brought Ireland under the authority of the Roman Catholic Church. While Ireland was a Christian country, the church in Ireland diverged from Roman Christianity in some practices, as well as the dating of Easter. This has led to the title ‘Celtic Christianity’ being applied to the church in Ireland. Adrian wanted Henry to conquer Ireland in order to impose the rules and jurisdiction of the Roman church. Adrian’s request was not unusual. His papal bull was issued just 60 years after the first Crusade, when the papacy was seeking to reclaim as many Christians as possible.


Henry sailed to Ireland in 1171 with a fleet of 400 ships, the largest foreign force to land in Ireland up to this point. On 11 October he landed at Waterford, took control of the city and proceeded to Dublin, where the city capitulated. He built himself a palace in the ‘Irish style’ beside the Thing Moate, the old Viking assembly, and from here received the submission of Irish kings.19 These kings submitted to Henry for a variety for reasons. The size of Henry’s army certainly would have prompted many to submit in order to avoid war. As the Irish system of kingship dictated that kings be elected, rather then being succeeded by their sons, they may have thought they could replace Henry once he had died. It is also possible that they favoured Henry over Strongbow and his supporters after the terrible attack on the city. Henry threw a lavish Christmas banquet and left Dublin on 2 February 1172. The invasion, and Henry’s assertion of power, radically changed the ethnic make-up of the city. The Hiberno-Norse who remained crossed to the north bank of the Liffey and settled at Oxmantown (Ostmantown), where they established a community (now modern-day Stoneybatter). The new town would be populated by Anglo-Normans, and later English settlers, who did their best to keep other ethnicities and influences out. Dublin may have appeared to be a conquered city, but Henry did not completely trust Strongbow. While he allowed Strongbow to keep the title of king of Leinster, and granted other lands to Anglo-Normans in his army, he denied him Dublin. He made Waterford and Dublin royal cities; territories that were now under royal control. Under his first charter to the city he gave the city and port of Dublin to the men of Bristol. Bristol was a busy trading port and a powerful city. This would have ensured the support of Bristol’s government and merchants for Henry’s monarchy. It also reminded Strongbow that he had lost to Henry. City charters became the way that successive monarchs granted certain rights to cities. For instance, Henry’s second charter in 1174 declared Dublin free of all taxes. This helped the city to grow economically.20 Charters were an effective way of ensuring that towns and cities remained loyal to the English crown.


CHRIST CHURCH DURING THE TWELFTH CENTURY


The Anglo-Normans were eager to put their stamp upon the city. The construction they carried out throughout the twelfth and thirteenth century was heavily influenced by their own domestic architecture.21 This was a trend that would continue throughout the history of the Irish colony as Irish architecture was shaped by English style and tastes. While the crypt in Christ Church Cathedral probably dates to 1171, more extensive rebuilding, in a Romanesque style, was undertaken some time between 1181 and 1212.22 We do not have plans of this early medieval building. Centuries of rebuilding and alterations, and damage to the church through natural disasters, has meant significant loss to the fabric of the original church. Some fragments of the original building are still visible, ‘fossilised into a monument that was largely reconstituted by George Edmund Street in the late nineteenth century’.23 They are to be found in the ‘quire’ and transepts of the cathedral. Medieval churches took on the pattern of a crucifix. The top of the crucifix was known as the quire, while the transepts were the side wings. The medieval features include two original archways, decorative capitals (a type of Corinthian pillar) with English stiff leaf details, pictured on facing page, and other decorative scenes depicting clerics, noblemen and pastoral scenes.24
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Decorative capitals at Christ Church Cathedral (copyright TRIARC. Image available from TARA)
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Grotesque head from the medieval period at Christ Church Cathedral (copyright Roger Stalley. Image available from TARA)





Not all of this medieval detail has remained in situ. The above is an image of one of these details, a ‘grotesque head’, that has remained within the cathedral collection but is no longer in its original place. The excellent condition of some of this stonework highlights the craftsmanship of the stonecutters used by the Anglo-Normans, who would have encouraged English craftsmen to come to Dublin to carry out projects like the rebuilding of Christ Church. Art historian Roger Stalley tells us that ‘a huge amount of experienced craftsmanship was invested in the details’.25 About 1234, work started on a new nave, allowing them to lengthen and widen the cathedral. This nave has been described as ‘the most distinguished piece of Gothic architecture in Ireland’, and brought the nave to its current size.26 The quire was further extended in the 1280s, to a length of 100 feet. There are a number of chapels around the nave and quire which are dedicated to St Nicholas, the Holy Trinity, Lady Chapel, St Edmund and St Laurence (although this was later re-dedicated to the Holy Ghost).27


THE MEDIEVAL CATHEDRAL PRECINCT


The church precinct was larger during the medieval period. The cathedral boundary was well defined, and has been described as follows:


There was a gateway opening into Fishamble Street, which by the late Middle Ages was fortified within a tower. From this gate, the wall ran in a southerly direction, close to the line of Fishamble Street, before turning west along the backs of houses in Skinners’ Row (now Christchurch Place) … The wall itself continued towards Christ Church Lane (not necessarily in a straight line) … It then continued north along the east side of Christ Church Lane before reaching the cathedral. The west gate, the so-called ‘great gate’, was situated in this area, but its position has been [the] subject of some confusion.28


Unlike today, where the only whole and functioning building within the precinct is the church itself, the medieval precinct contained a number of additional buildings that were central to the monastic life of the cathedral. Excavations undertaken in the Wood Quay area of the city in the 1960s and 1970s show us that ‘the area around the cathedral was densely populated, with tightly packed houses, well-defined property boundaries, workshops and narrow pathways’.29


As a monastery, the Christ Church precinct would have had a number of buildings in the complex, including the prior’s chambers, a kitchen, refectory, dormitory and toilets. A chapter house was added to the grounds circa 1220.30 This chapter house was used until the eighteenth century, but was abandoned and filled in with rubbish in the nineteenth century, after which point it was lost, only to be rediscovered during excavations later in the century.31 The bottom half of the building is exposed today and can be seen while standing in the cathedral grounds. The craftsmanship of the stonework is of a high quality and shows that, in rebuilding Christ Church, the Anglo-Normans not only influenced Irish architectural styles, but also the techniques and quality of Irish craftsmanship. The discovery of the chapter house, seen in the image opposite, was very important as it helped historians and archaeologists to piece together what the original monastery looked like. We know that the original gateway to the Abbey was underneath the present south porch door, which is adjacent to the chapter house today. Early accounts tell us that the gateway was seven feet from the chapter house.32 The exposed chapter house, as well as the excavations in Wood Quay, give us an idea of where the original church stood and the extent to which the city level has risen since medieval times.
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Christ Church Cathedral nave today





CHRIST CHURCH CATHEDRAL AND ST PATRICK’S CATHEDRAL


The history of Christ Church Cathedral could not be told without referring to its rival, St Patrick’s Cathedral, which was founded under the new Anglo-Norman regime in 1191. Unlike Christ Church Cathedral, St Patrick’s was situated outside the city walls. It is said that a church was founded as early as 450 to mark the spot where St Patrick baptised Dubliners from a well.33 There are wells throughout Dublin, however, that claim the auspicious title of St Patrick’s well, including one near Trinity College.34 It was not very common to have two cathedrals in a city, but St Patrick’s was a collegiate church (where priests could study) when it was created, and it fell outside the jurisdiction of the city. It was elevated to the status of cathedral some time later, when Henry de Loundes was elected to the chapters of Christ Church and St Patrick’s, thereby promoting him to archbishop and placing him as head of both churches. The medieval cathedral was rebuilt after Henry III granted permission to collect money for a building scheme in 1215. Once rebuilt it became the largest structure in Ireland, and remained so for many centuries.
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Remains of the medieval chapter house in the precinct of Christ Church Cathedral





The two cathedrals have a long-standing rivalry made worse by their close proximity. St Patrick’s may have been ‘outside’ the city in 1191 but the Anglo-Norman city thrived in the late twelfth and thirteenth century and quickly spilled beyond the walls into the growing suburbs. Today the two cathedrals are connected by Patrick Street and are a ten-minute stroll from each other. By 1300, it was necessary for rules to be laid down for the two cathedrals operating within the city. The Pacis Compostio was agreed upon, which stated that Christ Church Cathedral had precedence as the seat of the archbishops of Dublin. They were enthroned in Christ Church, but would be buried alternately in the two cathedrals. Today St Patrick’s still has no archbishop associated with it, which is very unusual for a cathedral. When the power of the Church of Ireland was dwindling in the nineteenth century, the two cathedrals were amalgamated for a short period, but they were soon separated again. In order to balance the two cathedrals, St Patrick’s Cathedral is the Church of Ireland’s national cathedral, while Christ Church is the capital’s cathedral. As the two cathedrals struggle to survive financially in a period where religious congregations are shrinking rapidly, competition remains for visitor numbers, with Christ Church losing out. On an annual basis it attracts roughly half those of its competitor St Patrick’s Cathedral (circa 350,000 visit St Patrick’s while 170,000 visit Christ Church Cathedral).35 The choirs of both cathedrals are well renowned, and both tour nationally and internationally, as well as holding a number of very popular annual events. The choirs performed Handel’s ‘Messiah’ together when it premiered in Dublin in 1742.


RELIGIOUS RELICS AT CHRIST CHURCH CATHEDRAL


Christ Church was a site of pilgrimage for many Irish people, and a number of relics were housed in the monastery. In 1180 the cathedral acquired the Baculus Jesu. The Baculus was a staff reputedly owned by St Patrick and was gifted to him by a hermit. The staff was kept at Armagh but it was seized by Anglo-Norman knights and gifted to Christ Church Cathedral. The staff attracted many visitors. In 1461, during a storm, the eastern window was blown down damaging the chest which housed the staff. While the other contents of the chest were badly damaged the staff remained unharmed, which was considered a miracle.36 By 1310 there was also a relic of St Catherine of Siena in the cathedral.37 In 1404 the shrine of St Cybis was taken from Wales and brought to Christ Church.38


The church also had relics in its own right, the most curious of which was the talking cross. Our most thorough account of the cross comes to us from Giraldus Cambrensis, the Anglo-Norman chronicler. He recounted the first miracle that the cross performed ‘not many years before the arrival of the English’: one of the citizens of Dublin ‘invoked the crucifix as the sole witness’ in a loan agreement.39 The loan was reneged upon and the case was tried in the cathedral in front of the cross and, being a peculiar case, it drew a crowd. The cross was called to give its testimony, which it did ‘in the presence of many persons who heard the words’.40 The second and third miracles that the cross was said to have performed occurred during the invasion of the city in 1171 by the Anglo-Normans. Knowing that Strongbow’s army was approaching the city, some citizens who were preparing to flee went to the cathedral and tried to seize the cross, but the cross refused to leave. The third miracle concerned an archer in the Anglo-Norman army, who had sacked the house of an archbishop (the account does not make clear if it was the archbishop of Dublin). After the city was taken he went to the cathedral to pray, and offered a penny to the cross. When his back was turned the cross threw the penny back at him.41 The story was perhaps intended to suggest that the sins committed during the invasion would not be forgotten.


THE IMPACT OF THE REFORMATION ON THE CATHEDRAL


During the Henrican reformation (discussed more fully in chapter three), Archbishop George Brown was sent to Ireland to oversee the implementation of new church reforms, to dissolve the monasteries, and to seize church lands. Christ Church Cathedral, being a monastery, was due to be dissolved along with the other Dublin monasteries of St Mary’s Abbey, All Hallows and St Patrick’s Cathedral. When moves were made to dissolve Christ Church, there was a general outcry from the civic leaders and prominent citizens. It was decided that the cathedral would not be dissolved but instead would lose its ‘monastic’ charter and would be reissued with a ‘secular’ charter to make it a church for the citizens of Dublin.42 The extensive network of buildings used by the monastery, such as the refectory and dormitories, were rented out, providing an important source of income for the church. Dublin’s law courts moved into the precinct, adding prestige to the area. While the institution managed to survive, the relics were not so lucky. The new reforms claimed that relics had no healing properties and were simply superstitious nonsense and a way of making money for the church. Archbishop Brown oversaw the public burning of the relics in the cathedral, including St Patrick’s staff. One relic that survived these changes was the heart of St Laurence O’Toole which was on display in the cathedral until March 2012, when it was stolen.43 The ‘wooden heart-shaped container’ was protected ‘within a small iron-barred cage in St Laud’s chapel in the cathedral’, but the thieves cut the bars of the cage in order to get at the relic, which Gardaí reported thieves had specifically targeted.44 To date no one has been apprehended for the theft, but there are suggested links between this theft and the theft of other relics, including a relic of the True Cross stolen from Holycross Abbey in County Tipperary in October 2012, and the theft of a relic of St Manchan from St Manchan’s church in County Offaly.45
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